I. INTRODUCTION 

This case involves a partition dispute between family 

members who are cotenants. The Kapelas own 75%, and their 

cousins the Sferras own 25%, of Bellevue's Overlake Farm - the 

family's 40-acre legacy property. The Kapelas sought a physical par

tition in kind and the Sferras sought a court-ordered sale of Overlake 

Farm. RCW 7.52.010 mandates partition in kind unless it would 

result in "great prejudice to the owners" - material economic loss. 

The trial court rejected the Sferras' claim for a sale, finding 

after a six-day trial that partition in kind of Overlake Farm was 

practical, would not result in any economic loss and would respect 

the Kapelas' familial and emotional ties to the property, where they 

have operated a horse farm for generations. After court-appointed 

Referees agreed on a physical partition that would result in 38 

buildable lots at no economic loss, a successor judge nevertheless 

adopted the Referees' recommendation that the property be sold, not 

because it was worth more as a single parcel, but because of the 

prospect of prejudice to the minority cotenant should the parties 

disagree over future development of their adjacent parcels. 

The successor judge's decision contravenes the plain language 

of the partition statute, which requires a partition in kind unless it 
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would cause material economic loss, or "great prejudice to the 

owners," RCW 7.52.010, not to just one of them. Moreover, the 

decision undermines the purpose of the partition statute, which is to 

authorize judicial intervention to divide cotenancy property in kind 

precisely because the cotenants cannot themselves agree to do so. 

The court's reliance on a disagreement over details of a sewer 

covenant - after the Kapelas had agreed to encumber their property 

to secure their 75% share of the cost of extending sanitary sewer if 

mandated by the City - wrongly rewarded the Sferras for their 

intransigence, and allowed the minority cotenant to force a judicial 

sale upon a majority cotenant absent economic detriment. 

Having found that the property could be equitably partitioned 

with no material loss to the owners, the court was obligated to divide 

it. Even if the cost of future improvements is a relevant 

consideration, the court then erred in refusing to exercise its broad 

equitable authority to dictate the terms of a sewer covenant. This 

Court should reverse and direct the partition in kind and owelty 

payment recommended by the Referees. Should this Court affirm 

the requirement of a sewer covenant, it should instruct the court to 

impose one on remand, with the assistance of a special master, if 

necessary. 
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II. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

1. The superior court erred in entering its Order 

Confirming in Part the Court Appointed Referees' Final Report and 

Recommendation. (CP 918-35) 

2. The superior court erred in entering its Amended 

Order Confirming in Part the Court Appointed Referees' Final Report 

and Recommendation. (CP 1013-14) (Appendix A) 

3. The superior court erred in entering its Order Denying 

Motion for Reconsideration, Amending March 25, 2015 Order. (CP 

1015) (Appendix B) 

4. The superior court erred in adopting those portions of 

the Referees' Final Report and Recommendation underscored in 

Appendix C. (CP 921-49) 

III. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS 
OF ERROR 

1. After a six-day trial, the trial court rejected a minority 

cotenant's request for partition of legacy family property by sale and 

appointed Referees who confirmed that the property may be 

partitioned in kind without material economic loss to the owners. 

Did a subsequent judge abuse his discretion in ordering a judicial 

sale of the property on the ground that physical partition may result 
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m future conflicts should the parties develop their respective 

parcels? 

2. Where both cotenants agree to the establishment of a 

covenant to share the cost of extending sanitary sewer if it is required 

upon future development of partitioned property, did the court err 

in ordering a judicial sale of the property on the ground that partition 

in kind would create "great prejudice" to the minority cotenant in the 

absence of material economic loss? 

3. Was the Referees' finding that "connection to a 

sanitary sewer is actually required" a basis for denying partition in 

kind where a city ordinance provides a variance to allow septic on 

lots of the size anticipated for development of the property in 

conformance with the City's subarea plan to maintain the 

neighborhood's rural and equestrian character? 

4. Did the court err in refusing to exercise its equitable 

authority to impose a cost-sharing servitude detailing the timing and 

means of the parties' contributions to the cost of extending municipal 

sewer to their respective lots? 
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IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE. 

A. Statement of Facts. 

1. The Kapelas and Sferras own a 40-acre horse 
farm in Bellevue as tenants in common. 

This partition action concerns the largest remaining 

subdividable undeveloped land in the City of Bellevue, family legacy 

property, now owned in tenancy in common - 75% and 25% - by two 

family limited liability companies controlled by the descendants of 

the original purchasers. Overlake Farm, located in the Bridle Trails 

area of Bellevue, was originally part of a 60-acre horse farm that 

Army and Betty Seijas purchased in 1947. (FF 3, 5, CP 229; CP 292) 

Army and Betty Seijas had two daughters, Betty Lou Seijas 

Kapela and Gloria Seijas Sferra. The Seijases deeded 20 acres of the 

original horse farm, known as the Front 20, to Betty Lou in 1978, as 

Gloria owned the family's other farm in Seattle. (2/19 RP 64, 2/21 

RP 115; FF 3, CP 229; CP 18) The Seijases thereafter deeded each of 

their daughters 25% of the remaining property, known as the Back 

40, while retaining the remaining 50%. (2/ 19 RP 66) Following their 

mother's death at age 96 in 2008, Betty Lou inherited her parents' 

interest in the Back 40. (FF 3, CP 229) 

The Front 20 and Back 40 are contiguous properties, as 

shown in the survey (CP 316), reproduced on the next page: 
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Betty Lou, and her three children, Cristina, Robert, and Dana, 

are the beneficial owners of appellant Overlake Farms ELK III, LLC. 

Gloria's daughters, Lisa and Linda Sferra, are the members of 

respondent Bellevue-Overlake Farm, LLC. Overlake Farms ELK III, 

LLC derives its 75% interest in the Back 40 from Betty Lou Kapela, 

and Bellevue-Overlake Farm, LLC derives its 25% interest in the 

Back 40 from Gloria Sferra. (FF 1-3, CP 228-29; CP 292) For clarity, 

in this brief the family LLCs are referred to by their family surnames 

- appellant Overlake Farms ELK III, LLC as "Kapelas" and 

respondent Bellevue Overlake Farm, LLC as "Sferras." 

2. The farm, which has enormous familial 
significance to the Kapelas, is capable of 
segregation into separate parcels but the 
parties could not agree to a physical partition. 

Overlake Farm has enormous familial and emotional 

significance to the Kapelas. (2/19 RP 74, 96) Following her husband 

Bob Kapela's military service in 1970, Betty Lou and Bob moved to 

Overlake Farm in 1971 where they raised their three children. (2/19 

RP 64) Betty Lou and Bob have lived on the Front 20 for the past 45 

years. The Back 40 contains the dedicated burial sites of several 

deceased family members. (FF 4, CP 229; 2/19 RP 73) 

The Kapela children, now adults with children of their own, 

still live adjacent to the farm or very close to it. (2/19 RP 64, 74) 
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Cristina lives a tenth of a mile north of Overlake Farm, where her two 

children, along with Betty Lou and Bob's other grandchildren, have 

grown up. (2/19 RP 72) Robert also lived adjacent to Overlake Farm 

until his death in 2014. Dana Kapela, along with her children, 

continues to live next to the farm. 

The Kapelas board horses on the Front 20 and graze some on 

the Back40 to pay the costs of maintaining Overlake Farm. (2/19 RP 

66-67) The Kapelas also operate an outdoor summer camp for 

children on the property and use it for charity events. (FF 4, CP 229; 

RP73) 

Until the late 199o's, a partnership agreement governed Betty 

Lou and Gloria's ownership of the Back 40. In 1999, Gloria dissolved 

the partnership and conveyed her 25% interest to her daughters, Lisa 

and Linda Sferra. Since then, there has been no written agreement 

governing the parties' respective rights as tenants in common. (FF 

4, CP 229) Betty directed Gloria's daughters Linda and Lisa to use 

the northernmost 10 acres, while Betty Lou used the 30 acres 

adjacent to the Front 20 as part of the Kapelas' horse farm. The 

parties cooperated in obtaining a boundary line adjustment that 

created two equally sized tax parcels, with a boundary that could be 

shifted northward to create a 30 acre/10 acre division. (2/19 RP 75) 
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Since 2001, and continuing after Betty's death in 2008, the 

parties have repeatedly discussed physically segregating their 

interests in Back 40, and have also explored the Kapelas buying out 

the Sferras' 25% interest. They have been unable to come to terms. 

(2/19 RP 79; 2/21RP108-09) 

B. Procedural History 

1. After a six-day trial, Judge Yu found that the 
property could be equitably partitioned, 
rejecting the Sferras' claim for a judicial sale 
and their contention that partition in kind 
would result in material pecuniary loss. 

In contrast to the Kapelas, the Sferras feel no strong familial 

ties to the property and preferred a sale to a physical division of the 

property. (2/21 RP 101, 118) After Betty Lou succeeded to their 

mother's 50% interest following Betty's death in 2008, Gloria and 

her daughters hardened their position, making it impossible to reach 

an agreement to physically divide the Back 40. (FF 9, CP 230; 2/19 

RP 75-76, 79-80) 

On July 28, 2011, the Kapelas therefore commenced this 

action for partition pursuant to RCW ch. 7.52. (CP 1-5) The Kapelas 

sought to continue to use their share of the Back 40 as a horse farm. 

(FF 10, CP 230) They believed that a physical partition would allow 
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the Sferras to use their 25% interest as they wished without 

continued conflict. (FF 10, CP 230) 

The Sferras admitted that the Kapelas owned a 75% and the 

Sferras a 25% interest in the Back 40, that the Kapelas had cleared 

the 30 acres adjacent to the Front 20 for their horse farm, and that 

the co-tenants were operating without a written agreement. (CP 6-

8) The Sferras denied that that the Back 40 could be physically 

divided without "great prejudice," and counterclaimed for an order 

forcing the sale of the property pursuant to RCW 7.52.080. (CP 8-

10) The Sferras claimed that physical partition was not possible 

because the parties "cannot cooperate with respect to this property." 

(2/19 RP 98) 

The Honorable Mary Yu presided over a six-day trial in King 

County Superior Court, considering testimony from the parties, their 

appraisers, land use planning consultants and other experts. (CP 

228; FF 11, CP 231) Both parties' experts agreed that development of 

the Back 40 would yield 38 lots. (FF 11, CP 231; 2/25 RP 12) The 

experts also agreed that it was feasible to partition the Back 40 so 

that the Kapelas would receive approximately 75% of the lots, and 

the Sferras the other 25%. (FF 18, CP 233) At trial, the parties valued 
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the property "as is" between $5.9 and $13.5 million. (Ex. 1; 2/25 RP 

115) 

Emphasizing the economies of the relatively expeditious short 

plat process, the Kapelas' experts presented several options to 

develop the entire Back 40 using 9-lot short plats. (FF 11, CP 231; 

See Exs. 32, 35, 38, 39) Without offering any partition proposals of 

their own, the Sferras' experts criticized the Kapelas' plans to 

physically partition the property as not feasible or inequitable, 

arguing that there would be a 9% to 17% loss of value were they to 

attempt to develop only nine, rather than all 38 lots, that it would be 

inequitable to require their nine lots to bear the entire cost of a sewer 

extension that would also benefit the Kapelas' 29 lots, and that 

wetlands would impede development of a portion of the property. 

(FF 11, CP 231; see 2/26 RP 31) 

In a memorandum decision (CP 193-96) and Findings of Fact 

and Conclusions of Law (CP 228-35) (Appendix D), Judge Yu 

rejected the Sferras' contention that "there was no partition scenario 

that would yield an equitable result." (FF 16, CP 232-33) She found 

that the Sferras' experts' assertion that the price per lot would be 

lower were only nine lots sold, rather than if the entire Back 40 were 

sold as one block ("assemblage premium," see 2/26 RP 34-36), to be 
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"based on a host of assumptions and variables," and that, in any 

event, "[s]ome loss in value is not great prejudice." (CP 194-95; CL 

4, CP 234) 

Addressing the extension of sanitary sewer to the property, 

Judge Yu found that the City of Bellevue could allow onsite septic 

systems in lieu of requiring extension and expansion of its sewer 

lines at an estimated cost of $1.4 million. (FF 7, CP 230) Judge Yu 

found that the Kapelas agreed to fund, or would enter into a covenant 

to fund, their 75% share of the sewer improvement expense "if sewer 

extensions were necessary to develop the Property." (FF 7, CP 230; 

see 2/19 RP 111, 142-43) 

Judge Yu concluded that the Sferras failed to prove that the 

property could not be partitioned without "great prejudice" -

defined, consistent with the caselaw, as "essentially material 

economic loss." (CL 4-6, CP 234) Judge Yu found that a partition 

would not result in material pecuniary loss to the Sferras, but she also 

considered the "human and family element" - the significant familial 

attachment the Kapelas have to the property: 

Defendant did not meet its burden of proof to convince 
the Court that it is not possible to carve out an equitable 
partition without material pecuniary loss to Defendant 
- i.e., such that the relative value of the share would be 
materially less than the sum Defendant would realize 
from one-fourth share of the proceeds of a sale of the 

12 



whole. The Court also cannot overlook the fact that 
Plaintiff, as one of the co-tenants, desires to keep and 
utilize the Property. There is a human and family 
element to the Property that cannot be discounted. 

(CL 6, CP 234) 

Judge Yu therefore denied the Sferras' claim for partition by 

sale and granted the Kapelas' claim for partition in kind, subject to 

the final report of three neutral Referees appointed pursuant to RCW 

7.52.080 "to consider and prepare a report on whether and how the 

Property can be equitably partitioned, subject to any owelty payment 

under RCW 7.52-440, and without great prejudice." (CL 9, CP 234-

2. In their Draft Report and Recommendation, 
the Referees found that the property could be 
partitioned without great prejudice, with 
owelty of $i37,500, and recommended the 
establishment of a $1.4 million cash escrow for 
a sanitary sewer connection, with the Kapelas 
funding 75%. 

Before the Referees, the parties agreed that under current 

zoning and land use regulations, the Back 40 would yield 38 

buildable lots, resulting in 29 lots for the Kapelas and nine lots for 

1 The Kapelas objected to the selection of developer Jim Reinhardsen as a 
Referee proposed by the Sferras, on the ground that Linda Sferra had 
consulted with him concerning a potential sale of the property and its 
highest and best use. (CP 708-10; 2/21RP104-05) Judge Yu overruled the 
objection. (CP 715) 
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the Sferras, with a payment in owelty to arrive at a precise 75%-25% 

partition. They also agreed that the eastern portion of the property, 

furthest away from the Front 20, was best suited for partition in kind, 

although they disagreed about whether SE or NE quadrant was the 

more equitable portion to award the Sferras. (CP 296-98, 651-75) 

The parties further agreed that if the City did require 

connection to municipal sewer facilities, the cost should be propor

tionately split 75%-25%. The Kapelas asserted that the City could, 

and would in fact prefer to, grant a septic variance rather than extend 

sewer lines into the rural neighborhood, citing the City's Bridle Trails 

subarea plan. (Ex. 220; CP 294, 339-45, 364, 805-07) The Sferras 

argued that the City would require the costly sewer extension. (CP 

628; see CP 758-61) As they had before Judge Yu (2/19 RP 111), the 

Kapelas again agreed with the Sferras to bear their proportionate 

share of the expense of a sewer extension, were the City to require 

one, that would benefit all of the partitioned property. (CP 728, i[35) 

In their draft report, the Referees recommended a partition in 

kind of the entire property, providing the Sferras with nine lots in the 

Southeast Quadrant as "the most logical for partition." (CP 734, i!50-

52) Their recommendation is reflected in CP 750, reproduced on the 

following page: 
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Like Judge Yu, the Referees rejected the Sferras' contention 

that the property would be worth more as a whole than if partitioned, 

finding that "the value per lot between large and small projects is 

roughly equal with developers paying the same pro rata value for 25% 

of the Property as they would for the entire Property," (CP 732, ~42) 

and that "there is no basis to assert that lots in a nine lot subdivision 

would sell at any different pace than a 38 lot subdivision." (CP 733, 

~46) The Referees determined the price per lot was $275,000 -

midway between the $250,000 price set by the Kapelas' appraiser 

and the $300,000 price set by Sferras' appraiser - for a total value of 

$10-45 million. As 25% of the 38 lots entitled the Sferras to 9.5 lots, 

the Referees recommended an owelty payment of $137,500 from the 

Kapelas to the Sferras. (CP 735-36, ~~55-56) 

While recognizing that "no application for a sewer variance 

has been submitted to the City of Bellevue and, as a result, neither 

the parties nor the City undertook a careful analysis of whether a 

variance to a sanitary sewer service requirement would be possible," 

(CP 726, ~30), the Referees nonetheless reported based upon 

undisclosed "interviews with members of the City of Bellevue's utility 

division," that "connecting to a sanitary sewer is actually required 

and the small parcel cannot be subdivided without provision for 

16 



sanitary sewer service." (CP 736, ~59) They estimated the cost of 

the sewer extension at $1.4 million. (CP 736, ~60) Assuming the 

Sferras developed the smaller parcel first, the Referees concluded 

that the Sferras "would sustain great prejudice" if required to carry 

the entire cost of a sewer extension benefitting all parcels, while 

simultaneously providing "an out-size benefit to the remaining 

parcel." (CP 737, ~61) 

The Referees concluded that this "great prejudice can be 

mitigated only by an appropriate upfront cost-sharing agreement 

between" the parties. (CP 737, ~62) Acknowledging Judge Yu's 

finding that the Kapelas agreed to fund 75% of the sewer costs, the 

Referees recommended the parties enter into a "reciprocal covenant" 

to pay their respective shares of $i.4 million into escrow, to be held 

pending construction. (CP 738, ~63(a)) Any unpaid costs in excess 

of the funds in escrow would be a lien against a party's property, 

foreclosable in accordance with law. (CP 739, ~63(d)) The covenant 

would also require "appropriate easements for sanitary sewer, 

natural gas, domestic water, telephone and cable TV, power and 

storm water," with the party first to subdivide to propose their 

locations. (CP 739, ~63(e)) Any disputes between the parties would 
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be resolved by binding arbitration to conclude within 60 days of a 

demand. (CP 739, ~63(g)) 

The Referees solicited the parties' comments to the draft 

report, but did not tell the parties that their failure to agree to the 

details of a sewer covenant would result in their recommending a 

court-ordered sale of the property. The Kapelas again agreed to a 

cost-sharing covenant, but recommended that a sewer variance 

application be pursued as a condition precedent to the much more 

costly sewer extension. (CP 787, 806) Instead of tying up $1 million 

in cash for an undefined length of time, the Kapelas proposed posting 

a surety bond to secure their 75% contribution to the estimated $ i.4 

million cost of a sewer extension. (CP 800-01, 806-07) They 

proposed that the security be converted to a cash escrow when "the 

extension is actually going to happen, e.g., approval of the developer 

utility extension application." (CP Boo) The Kapelas pointed out 

that it could be years before either party (or, more likely, a developer) 

elected to undertake the extension, that the City of Bellevue allows a 

surety rather than cash, and the Sferras, whose contribution is 

limited to 25%, had little incentive to control cost. (CP 806-07) 

The Sferras "insisted on the availability of a cash escrow for

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