Case No. 73408-3

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

OVERLAKE FARMS B.L.K. III LLC,

Plaintiff-Appellant,

VS.

BELLEVUE-OVERLAKE FARM, LLC,

Defendant-Respondent.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT BELLEVUE-OVERLAKE FARM, LLC

CALFO HARRIGAN LEYH & EAKES LLP Arthur W. Harrigan, Jr., WSBA #1751 Tyler L. Farmer, WSBA #39912 999 Third Avenue, Suite 4400 Seattle, WA 98104

Tel: (206) 623-1700 Fax: (206) 623-8717

E-mail: arthurh@calfoharrigan.com E-mail: tylerf@calfoharrigan.com

Attorneys for Defendant-Respondent Bellevue-Overlake Farm, LLC F

CRIGINAL

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

The Kapelas argue that the superior court relied on the parties' failure to agree in rejecting physical partition and abused its discretion in failing to bring about an agreement. App. Br., pp. 34-38, 42-44. Neither the Court nor the Referees can compel an agreement. But the issue of agreement is a red herring in light of the statutory mandate. The court did not base its order of sale on the parties' failure to agree, but on the great prejudice that would inevitably result from physical partition. Where there is great prejudice, a sale is mandated under Washington law.

Huston v. Swanstrom, 168 Wash. 627, 630, 13 P.2d 17 (1932) ("[I]f [physical] partition cannot be made without great prejudice to the owners, the court must order a sale.") (emphasis added). The Referees tried to promote an agreement, but this admirable effort was arguably not even permissible under the statute. Once the Referees found great prejudice, the Sferras were entitled to partition by sale.

That an agreement could potentially avoid great prejudice does not distinguish this case from any other case. All outcomes mandated by law and fact can potentially be avoided by settlement. The conscientious Referees made a valiant effort to effect a settlement. But courts are not charged with compelling agreements in order to avoid a result otherwise compelled by law. *See Wilcox v. Willard Shopping Ctr. Associates*, 208 Conn. 318, 328-29, 544 A.2d 1207, 1212-13 (1988) ("[W]e find no error

in the refusal of the trial court to entertain [defendants'] offer to purchase [plaintiff's] interest and enter into a lease with him . . . At best, it has made an offer of settlement and compromise which has not been accepted by [plaintiff]. Accordingly, the referee properly refused to consider the offer in his deliberations.").

The Kapelas argue that the Referees and Judge Chung concluded that the Property could be physically separated with no economic loss. App. Br., pp. 1, 2, 22, 26, 31-32, 34. For example, the Kapelas claim "[i]t was undisputed, as Judge Yu, the Referees and Judge Chung found, that the property was capable of physical division without any material economic loss to the cotenants." App. Br., p. 22. There is no basis for this contention. The Referees' Initial and Final Reports both found that physical partition of the Property was not possible without great prejudice. See supra, § III.F. CP 737; CP 944. In their Initial Report, the Referees made a recommendation for a specific partition plan that they believed would be equitable if the Parties entered into a complex, long-term agreement that included sharing the sewer cost. When the Parties made no such agreement, the Referees adhered to their consistent determination that great prejudice would arise from any partition of one fourth of the Property and recommended that the court order partition by sale. This

outcome is entirely consistent with the Referees' findings and is amply supported, in fact compelled, by evidence.

The Kapelas' argument that Judge Yu made a ruling calling for physical partition is clearly wrong for reasons previously outlined (supra, § IV.C.1), and so is the legal premise for their argument that the Referees would be bound by any such ruling. In Hegewald v. Neal, "the court heard extensive evidence and initially ruled that there should be partition in kind." 20 Wn. App. 517, 519, 582 P.2d 529 (1978). The court then appointed "three referees with directions 'to examine the property in question and make such further investigation as necessary as to the feasibility of physical partition . . . and to submit a plan for such physical partition if the same is possible." *Id.* (alteration in original). The three referees could not agree on a conclusion: two filed a report recommending partition by sale, one filed a report urging physical partition. *Id.* at 519-20. The court heard arguments and subsequently "reversed its initial decision and entered findings based upon the evidence previously received and the report of the two referees. It ordered partition by sale rather than partition in kind." *Id.* at 520. On appeal, the appellant argued that the referees were bound by the superior court's initial ruling and thus "ha[d] authority only to devise a method of partition in kind." *Id.* The court held "[RCW 7.52.130] authorizes the procedure adopted by the court and the

referees whereby an initial determination for partition in kind can be reconsidered by the court if the referees report back that partition cannot be made without great prejudice to the owners and the court is satisfied that such report is correct." *Id.* at 521. As the court noted, the initial order appointing referees "specifically directed the referees to consider the feasibility of physical partition" and the partition statute specifically "provides for the contingency that although an initial order of partition in kind has been entered, the referees may find, after investigation, that it cannot be accomplished without great prejudice to the owners." *Id.* at 520-21.

Judge Yu ordered the Referees to determine if physical partition was feasible without great prejudice. The Referees unanimously determined it was not for sound reasons, and Judge Chung properly exercised his discretion in adopting this recommendation.

2. The Superior Court's Factual Conclusions Are Supported By Substantial Evidence.

The Kapelas argue that the Referees improperly "speculated that a [septic] variance would not be granted by finding that a sewer connection was required based on undisclosed 'interviews with [undisclosed] members of the City of Bellevue's utility division." App. Br., pp. 39-40 (quoting CP 943). This assertion is inaccurate. Each of the listed criteria

for septic must be met. Bellevue City Code 24.04.100.B.2 (footnote 7, *supra*). The distance from the sewer to the property line is not in dispute and defeats any septic alternative. CP 930-33. The Referees also noted

the testimony of pertinent witnesses suggests that the use of on-site septic systems is inconsistent with high-end, large lot developments as would be proposed with development of the Property. On-site systems can interfere with an owner's desire to locate patios, sport courts, pools, and other site amenities typically associated with this type of development. Furthermore, on-site disposal of domestic sewage may be perceived as inconsistent with the high-end nature of any proposed development of the Property.

CP 933.

The Kapelas accuse the Referees of improperly "[s]peculating on future development scenarios." App. Br., p. 40. But considering the prospects for developing undeveloped property does not "contravene[]" the principles underlying partition (App. Br., p. 40); to the contrary, it is reasonable, appropriate, and routine. ¹⁶ Thus, for example, in *Hegewald v. Neal*, the court found there was substantial evidence supporting the trial court's order of partition by sale where a "witness . . . testified that if the land is partitioned in kind, it cannot be feasibly developed for the logical higher and better use of a resort-recreational development." 20 Wn. App.

1

¹⁶ The Kapelas claim that considering the prospects for development is inappropriate because courts in partition actions "must look[s] to [a property's] *current* fair market value." App. Br., p. 40 (emphasis in original). But certainly the Kapelas cannot dispute that the development prospects of a property—including the costs required to build in the future—affect the current market value of a property.

at 526, 582 P.2d at 534. And in *Friend v. Friend*, the court looked to local ordinances to determine that a proposed subdivision "conflict[ed] with local zoning and subdivision requirements and is prejudicial to the parties." 92 Wn. App. 799, 801-02, 804, 964 P.2d 1219, 1221-22 (1998). The court made this determination despite the fact that the attempted partition had not been submitted to the county for review. *Id.; see also Borzenski v. Estate of Stakum*, 195 Conn. 368, 489 A.2d 341 (Conn. 1985) (considering the likely preferences of potential buyers in determining that partition by sale was appropriate).

Finally, the Kapelas assert that the Referees' lacked substantial evidence to find that, absent an agreement, the Sferras would bear the full cost of the sewer extension. According to the Kapelas, that conclusion is "contravened by Judge Yu's finding that there was an agreement." App. Br., pp. 40-41. But there was no finding of an agreement. At trial, the Kapelas' representative equivocated as to whether they would fund their share of the sewer development expense. CP 115; CP 142-143 (quoted above at footnote 15). Over a year later, when the Referees proposed an agreement to handle funding and improvements, the Kapelas rejected it and strenuously objected to fundamental terms of the proposal. The record before Judge Chung reflected the parties' longstanding inability to agree on *anything* concerning the Property and the fact that the Kapelas

continued to maintain that sewer improvements are not needed to develop the Property.

3. The Referees and the Superior Court Did Not Impermissibly Rely on the Cousins' Inability to Agree.

The Kapelas insist that Judge Chung erred in "adopt[ing] . . . the Referees' recommendation to direct a judicial sale of the property based on the potential for future disagreement" between the cousins. App. Br., p. 35. The parties' inability to agree on any matter related to the Property is not a "potential for future disagreement." It is a longstanding and current dispute—one that the Referees attempted to resolve by fostering an agreement to avoid great prejudice. The Referees' attempt failed. But the Referees do not have the authority, nor does the court have the authority, to compel an agreement.

More fundamentally, where there is great prejudice a sale is mandatory. *See Huston v. Swanstrom*, quoted above. Once the Referees determined that there was great prejudice, their only authorized course was to recommend sale. Their detour into what amounted to a mediation effort was creative but did not succeed. Because the trial court agreed with the Referees' unanimous finding of great prejudice, the trial court also was compelled to order a sale. The trial court does not have "discretion" to order the parties to arrive at an agreement. That the

Referees also made observations about the likely impossibility of such an agreement is beside the point.

The Kapelas also now try to characterize the dispute as one over the proper mechanism for funding the improvement. App. Br., pp. 18, 24, 40-41. In fact the cousins were really at loggerheads over whether a sewer line should be built at all. In the event of partition, the Sferras wished to receive fair market value for their share of the Property; the Kapelas wanted to keep it for their personal horse pasture. But what controls is the correct determination that physical partition results in material economic loss, which is measured by determining the highest and best use of the Property and then determining if physical partition results in such a loss. If so, the statute mandates a partition by sale.

The argument that failing to effect a settlement was an abuse of discretion (App. Br., pp. 42-44) is simply baseless and is accompanied by no citation of authority.

The admitted inability of the parties to work together does, however, further support the determination that partition by sale is the correct course of action in this case. The court is not required to adopt a remedy that would force parties to maintain a cooperative relationship indefinitely when the parties have clearly shown their inability to do that

very thing. As the *Hegewald* court noted, quoting the Iowa Supreme Court:

The object of partition proceedings is to enable those who own property as joint tenants, or co-parceners, or tenants in common to so put an end to the tenancy as to vest in each a sole estate in specific property or an allotment of the lands or tenements. It contemplates an absolute severance of the individual interests of each joint owner, and, after partition, each has the right to enjoy his estate without supervision, let, or hindrance from the other. Unless this can be accomplished, then the joint estate ought to be sold, and the proceeds divided. Courts should be, and are, adverse to any rule which will compel unwilling persons to use their property in common.

Hegewald, 20 Wn. App. at 523, 582 P.2d at 532 (quoting *Brown v. Cooper*, 98 Iowa 444, 67 N.W. 378 (Iowa 1896)). ¹⁷ Here, the covenant proposed by the Referees—and rejected by the Kapelas—would have forced the parties to cooperate in complex ways for an extended period with the court potentially involved in resolving scores of disputes. This is precisely the outcome that partition actions are designed to avoid. And in this case the cousins' inability to agree "would only place th[e superior] Court in the position of having to police a difficult process of partition and land development over a long period of time." CP 947. The partition statute mandates sale in this case; it certainly does not contemplate that the

¹⁷ The court in *Hegewald* added that "the minority report, by recommending that the hot springs be retained in common, that cost of improvements be assessed to the owners proportionately, and that the waters be distributed and charged for on a monthly basis, lends support to the conclusion that partition is not feasible." *Hegewald*, 20 Wn. App. at 523, 582 P.2d at 532.

court should appoint itself or a special master to become the parties' construction project manager and mediator through a complex and costly project with many tangential issues.

4. A Material Economic Impact on the Value of the One-Fourth Interest Compels Partition by Sale.

The Kapelas argue that the superior court erred by ordering a sale of the Property based 'only' on great prejudice to the Sferras, not to all owners of the Property. App. Br., pp. 32-33. Caselaw and the purpose of the partition statute compel rejection of this argument, which was not in any case preserved for appeal.

The main focus of the trial before Judge Yu was whether physical partition would materially devalue the smaller parcel as compared with one fourth of the actual fair market value of the whole. At no time during the trial, during the preparation of findings and conclusions, during any of the year-long proceedings before the Referees or during the briefing leading to Judge Chung's adoption of the Referees' Recommendation did the Kapelas argue that great prejudice had to be shown to both owners before partition by sale could be ordered.

The first time the Kapelas even noted the use of the plural "owners" in the partition statute was in a Motion for Reconsideration filed

after Judge Chung's ruling.¹⁸ However, they did not argue that great prejudice to one owner was insufficient to support partition by sale. Instead, in a garbled statement, they referred to the term "owners" in the statute and then argued that ordering the parties to enter into a covenant would *avoid* prejudice to *both owners*. In short, the argument now being advanced on appeal was *never* advanced below.

The Kapelas did not simply fail to make the argument below that both owners had to be prejudiced; they acquiesced repeatedly in the opposite—and correct—interpretation of the partition statute. The Kapelas submitted briefs and proposed findings and conclusions advancing the correct interpretation that great prejudice to one owner meets the standard, and over literally years of litigation they made no objection to the repeated adoption of this premise by two trial judges and the three Referees. The Kapelas submitted proposed Findings and

¹⁸ In their motion for reconsideration, the Kapelas wrote "partition by sale is only allowed by RCW 7.52.080, when no other option is available to avoid great prejudice to the "owners." [Emphasis added] ... But for, the lack of a sewer cost-sharing covenant farm could be partitioned in kind without great prejudice to both owners. Such a covenant should be imposed by the Court." CP 951, 953. The Kapelas' Motion for Reconsideration simply does not raise the issue they now seek to raise and does not even qualify as "passing treatment" of an issue. "Passing treatment of an issue or lack of reasoned argument is insufficient to merit judicial consideration. Holland v. City of Tacoma, 90 Wn. App. 533, 538, 954 P.2d 290, 292 (1998), as amended (May 22, 1998) (citing State v. Johnson, 119 Wn.2d 167, 171, 829 P.2d 1082 (1992)). Consequently, the Kapelas have waived this argument. See Karlberg v. Otten, 167 Wn. App. 522, 531-32, 280 P .3d 1123 (2012) ("A failure to preserve a claim of error by presenting it first to the trial court generally means the issue is waived. While an appellate court retains the discretion to consider an issue raised for the first time on appeal, such discretion is rarely exercised." (citing Bellevue Sch. Dist. No. 405 v. Lee, 70 Wn.2d 947, 950, 425 P.2d 902 (1967); RAP 2.5(a).

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